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UNIT.ED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 
TAMPADMSION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

JlMMY WAYNE HAMMONDS 
a/kl a "The Monkey Whisperer" 

CASE NO. 8:2Ck:r-401-T-02AAS 

N·Br\AGBBEMENf 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Ctim. P. ll(c), the United States of Arnerka. by Roger 

B. Handberg, United States A1tDmey for the Middle District of Florida, and the 

ddendanti Jimmy Wayne Hammonds, and the attorney for the defe:cdant, Gary 

S. Ostrow, mutually agree as follows: 

A. Parttr•JariKd Imus 

1. Count(l,) Pkadinr To 

The defendant shall enter a plea of guilty to Counts One, Four, Five, 

and Six of the indictment. Count One charges the defendant with conspiracy to 

violate the Lacey Aa, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. Comrts Four through Six 

charge the defendant with violations of the Endangered Species Aa., in violation of 

16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a)(l) and 1540(bX1). 

2. Maxjmum Pwlti,cs 

C()unt One carries a maximum sentence of five years' .imprisonment, a 

fine ct the greater of$250,000 or twice the gross gain from the offense, a term of 

supervised release of not more than "three years, and a special assessment of $100. 
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Counts Four through Six cany P- maximum sentence of one year in 

prison, a fine of up to $50,000, a term of supervised release of up to one year, and. a 

special assessment of $25. 

With respect to certain offenses, the Court shall order the defendant to 

make restitution to any victim of the offense(s), and with respect to other offenses, 

the Court may order the defendant to make restitution to any victim of the offense(s), 

or to the community, as set forth below. 

3. Elements of the Offe:nse(ru 

The defendant acknowledges understanding the nature and elements of 

the offense(s) with which defendant has been charged and to which defendant is 

pleading guilty. The elements of Count One are: 

Second: 

Fourth: 

two or more persons in some way agreed to try to accomplish a 
shared and mtlawful plan; 

the defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and · 
willfully joined in it; 

during the conspiracy, one of the conspirators knowingly 
engaged in at least one overt act as described in the indictment; 
and 

the overt act was committed at or about the time alleged and 
with the purpose of carrying out or accomplishing some object of 
the conspiracy. 
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The elements of Counts Four through Six are: 

the defendant knowingly delivered, received, carried, 
ttansported, or shipped in interstate or foreign commerce, and in 
the course of a commercial activity, wildlife; or sold or offered 
for sale in interstate or foreign commerce wildlife; 

Second: the wildlife was listed as an endangered species. 

4. Counts Disroissed 

At. the time of sentencing, the remaining count(s) against the defendant, 

Counts Two, Three, and Seven, will be dismissed pursuant to Fed. R.. Crim. P. 

1 l(cXl)(A). 

5. . No Further Charges 

If the Court accepts this plea agreement, the United States .Attorney's 

Office for the Middle District of Florida agrees not to charge defendant with 

committing any other federal criminal offenses known to the United States 

Attorney's Office at the time of the execution of this agreement, relating to the 

' conduct described in this plea agreement. 

6. G11ideljpes Sentence 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. ll(cXl)(B), the United States will 

recommend to the Court that 1he defendant be sent.enced within the. defendant's 

applicable guidelines range as determined by the Court pursuant to the United States 
' I 

Sentencing Guidelines, as adjusted by any departure the United States has agreed to 

recommend in this plea agreement. The parties understand that such a 

recommendation is not binding on the Court and that, if it is not accepted by this 
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Court, neither the United States nor the defendant will be allowed to withdraw from 

the plea agreement, and the defendant will not be allowed to withdraw from the plea 

of guilty. 

7. AccCl?J;anee of Res,wnsihility - Three Levels 

At the time of sentencing, and in the event that no adverse information 

is received suggesting such a recommendation to be unwarranted, the United Stares 

will recommend to the Court that the defe:nda.m receive a two-level downward 

adjustment for acceptance of responsibility, pmsuant 1D USSG § 3El. l(a). The 

defendant understands that this recommendation or request is not bindmg on the 

Court, and if not accepted by the Court, the defendant will not be allowed to 

withdraw from the plea. 

Furth.er, at the time of sentencing, if the defendant's offense level prior 
I 

to operation of subsection (a) is leve1'16 or greater, and if the defendant complies 

with the provisions ofUSSG § 3El.l(b) and all terms of this Plea Agreement, 

including but not limited to, the timely submission of the· finaiiciar affidavit 

referenced in Paragraph B.5., the United States agrees to file a motion pursuant to 

USSG § 3E l. l(b) for a downward adjustment of one additional level. The defendant 

understands that the determination as to whether the defendant has qualified for a 

downward adjustment of a third level for acceptance of responsibility rests solely 

with the United States Attomey for the Middle District of Florida, and the ~dant 

agrees that the defendant cannot and will not cba11enge that determination, whether 

by appeal, collateral attack, or otherwise. 

Defendant's Initials~ 4 
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8. Coo,peration - Snb$mtial Assistance to be Considered 

Defendant agrees to cooperate fully with the United States in the 

investigation and prosecution of other persons, and to testify, subject to a prosecution 

for perjury or making a false statement, fully and truthfully before any federal court 

proceeding or federal grand jury in connection with the charges in this case and other 

ma.tttts, such cooperatron to further include ·a full and complete disclosure of all 

. relevant information, including production of any and all books, papers, documents, 

and other objects in defendant's possession or control, and to be reasonably available 

for interviews which the United Stairs may rcqulre·. If the coo~n is completed · 

prior to sentencing, the gove:mment agrees to consider whether such cooperation­

qualifies as "substantial assistance" in accordance with the policy of the United States 

Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, wamnting the filing of a motion at the 

time of sentencing recommending (1) a downward departure from the applicable 

guideline range pursuant to USSG §SKI .1, or (2) the imposition of a sentence below . 

a statutory minimum, if any, pmsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e), or (3) both. If the 

cooperation is completed subsequent to sentencing, the gov~ent agrees to 

consider whether such cooperation qna1i6P$ llS "substantial assistance" in accordance 

with the policy of the United States Attomey for the Middle District of Florida, 

warranting the filing of a motion for a reduction of sentence within one year of the . 

imposition of sentence pmsuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 3S(b ). In any case, the 

defendant understands that the determination as to whether "substantial assistance" 

Derenda:llt's Initials~ 5 
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has been provided or what type of motion related thereto will be filed, if any, rests 

solely with the United States Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, and the 

defendant agrees that defendant cannot and will not challenge that determination, 

whether by appeal, collateral attack, or otherwise. 

9. Use of Information -Section lB 1, 8 

Pursuant to USSG §1Bl.8(a), the United States agrees that no self­

incriminating information which the defendant may provide during the course of 

defendant's cooperation and pursuant to this agreement shall be used in determining 

the applicable sentencing guideline range, subject to the restrictions and limitations 

set forth in USSG §1Bl.8(b): 

10. Forfeiture ofAssets 

The defendant agrees to forfeit to the United States immediately and 

voluntarily any 3lld all ~ and property, or portions thereof, subject to forfeiture, 

pursuant to 16 U.S.C.§§ 3374 and 1540(e)(4), and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), whether in 

the possession or control of the United States, the defendant or defendant's 

nominees. 

1be defendant agrees and consents to the forfeiture of these assets 

pursuant to any federal criminal, civil.judicial or administrative forfeiture action. 

The defend.ant also agrees to waive all constitutional, statutory and procedural 

challenges (mcludmg <lirect appeal, habeas coipus, or any other means) to any 

forfeiture cairied out in accordance with this Plea Agreement on any grounds, 

including that the forfeiture described herein constitutes an excessive fine, was not 
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properly noticed in the charging instrument. addressed by the Court at the time of 

· the gwlty plea,-announced at sentencing. or incorporated into the judgment. 

If the United States seeks the forfeiture of specific assets pmsuant to 

R:ule 32.2(bX4), the defendant agrees that the p,-cliroinary order of forfeiture will 

satisfy the notice reqwrement and will be final as to the defendant at the time it is 

entered. In the event the forfeiture is omitted from the judgment, the defendant 

agrees that the forfeiture order may be incorporated into the written judgment at any 

time pursuant to Rule 36. 

The defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to identify and locate 

all property subject to forfeiture and to transfer custody of such property to the 

United States before the defendant's sentencing. To that end, the defendant agrees to 

make a foll and complete disclosure of all assets over which defendant exercises 

control directly or indirectly, including all assets held by nominees, to execute any 

documents requested by the United States to obtain from any other parties by lawful 

mean.$ any records of assets owned by the defendant, and to consent to the release of 

the defendant's tax returns for the previous five years. The defendant further agrees 

to be interviewed by the govcmment, prior to and after sentencing, regarding such 

assets and their connection to criminal conduct. The defendant further agrees to be 

polygraphed on the mue of assets, if it is deemed necessary by the United States. 

The defendant agrees that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11 and USSG § lBl.8 

will not protect from foifeiture assets disclosed by the defendant as part of the 
. I • 

defendant's cooperation. 
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The defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to assist the 

government in obtaining clear title to the forfeitable assets before the defendant's 

sentencing. In addition to providmg full and complete information about forfeitable 

assets, these steps include, but are not limited to, the surrender of title, the signing of 

a. consent decree of forfeiture, and signing of any other documents necessary to 

effectuate such'transfers .. 

Forfeiture of the defendant's assets shall not be treated as satisfaction of 
' .. 

any fine, restitution, cost of imprisonmem, or any other penalty the Court may 

impose upon the defendant in addition to forfeiture. 

The defendant agrees ~ in the event the Court determines that the 

defendant has breached this section of the Plea Agreement, the defendant may be 

found ineligible for a reduction in the Guidelines calculation for acceptance of 

responsibility and substantial assistance, and may be eligible for an obstruction of 

justice enhancement 

The defendant agrees that the forfeiture provisions of this plea 

agreement are intended to, and will. survive the defendant, notwithstandip.g the 

abatement of any underlying criminal conviction after the execution of this 

agreement. 'The forfeita.bility of any particular property pursuant to this agreement 

shall be determined as if the defendant had survived, and that determination shall be 

binding upon defendant's heirs, successors and assigns until the agreed forfeiture, 

includmg any agreed forfeiture amount, is collected in full 

Defendant'• Initials~ 8 
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B. Standard Ter;nw and Conditions 

1. Restitution, Special Assessment and Fme 

The defendant understands and agrees that the Court, in addition to or 

in lieu of any othc:r penalty, mall. order the defendant to make restitution to any 

victim oftbe offense(s), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A, for all offenses described in 

18 U.S.C. § 3663A(cXl); and the Court may order the defendant to make restitution 

10 any victim of the offense(s), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663, inclucling restitution as 

to all counts charged, whether or not the defendant enters a p:lea of goilty to such 

counts, and whether or not such counts are msmiSlied pursuam to this agreement. 

The defendant further understands that compliance with any restitution payment . 
plan imposed by the Court in no way precluc;les the United States from 

simultaneously pursuing otba statutory remedies for collr.cting restitution (28 U.S.C. 
'-

§ 3003(b X2)), including, but not limited 10, garnishment arid execution, pursuant to 

the Mandatory Victims Restitution Act, in order to ensure that the defendant's 

restitution obligation is satisfied. 

On each count to which a plea of guilty is entered, the Court shall 

impose a special assessment pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013. To ensure tbatthis 

obligation is satisfied, the Defendant agrees to deliver a cashier's check, certified 

check or money order to the aerk of the Court in the am.01.mt of $175, payable to 

"Clerk, U.S. District Court" within ten days of the change of plea hearing. 

The defendant understands that this agreement imposes no limitation as 

to fine . 

. Defendant's hritials 1d1- 9 
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2. Sypervised Release 

The defendant understands that the offcnse(s) to which the defendant is 

pleading provide(s) for imposition of a term. of supervised release upon release from 

imprisonment, and that, if the defendant should violate the conditions of release, the 

defendant would be subject to a further term of imprisonment. 

3. Jmroi&ration Consequences of Pleadin,g Guilty 

The defendant has been advised and un.dexstands that, upon conviction. 

a defendant who is not a United States citizen may be removed from the United 

States, denied citizenship, and denied admission to the UDitcd States in the future. 

4. Sentencing Tnfonpation 

The United States reserves its right and obligation to report to the Court 

.and the United States Probation Office all information concerning the background, 

character, and conduct of the defendant, to provide relevant factual information, 

includmg the totality of the defendant's criminal activities, if any, not limited to the 

count(s) to which defendant pleads, to respond to comments made by the defendant 

or defendant's counsel, and to correct any misstatements or inaccuracies. The 

United States further reserves its right to make any recommen~ons it deems 

appropriate regarding the disposition of this case, subject to any limitations set forth 

herein, if any. 

Defaidant's Initials~ 10 
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5. Financial Disclosures 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(d)(3) and Fed. R. Crim. P. 32(dX2)(AXiJ.), 

the defendant agrees to complete and submit to the United States Attorney's Office 

within 30 days of exccutio~ of this agreement an affidavit reflecting the defendant's 

financial conditi<?n· The defendant promises that his financial statement and 

disclosures will be complete, accurate and truthful and will include all assets in 

which he bas any interest or over which the defendant exercises control, directly or 

indircctly, includmg those held by a spouse, dependent, nominee or other third party. 

The defendant further agrees to execute any documents requested by the Unit.ed 

States needed to obtain from any third parties any records of assets owned by the 

defendant, <lirectly or through a nominee, and, by the execution of this Plea 

Agr~ent, consents to the release of the defendant's tax returns for the previous five 

years. The defendant similarly agrees and authorizes the United States Attorneys 

Office to provide to, and obtain from, the United States Probation Office, the 

financial affidavit, any of the defendant's federal, state, and local tax returns, bank 

records and any other financial information conceming the defendant, for the 

pmpose of making any recommendations to the Court and for collecting any 

assessments, fines, restitution, or furfeiture ordered by the Court. The defendant 

expressly authorizes the Umted States Attorney's Office to obtain current credit 

reports in order to evaluate the defendant's ability to satisfy any financial obligation 

imposed by the Court. 

Deff:ndaDl's Initials~ 11 · 
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6. Sentencing Recommendations 

It is understood by the parties t1)at the Court is neither a party to nor 

bound by this agreement. The Court may accept or reject the agreement, or defer a 

decision until it has had an opportunity to consider the presentence report prepared 

by the United States Probation Office. The defendant understands and 

acknowledges that, although the parties are permitted to make recommendations and 

present arguments to the Court, the sentence will be determined solely by the Court, 

with the assistance of the United States Probation Office. Defendant further 

understands and acknowiedges that any mscussions between defendant or 

defendant's attorney and the attorney or other agents for the government regarding 

any recommendations by the government are not binding on the Court and that, 

should any recommendations be rejected, defendant will not be permitted to 

withdraw defendant's plea pursuant to this plea agreement. The government 

expressly reserves the right to support and d~d any decision that the Court may 

make with regard to the defendant's sentence, whether or not such decision is 

consistent with the govemment's recommendations contained herein. 

7. · Defendant's Waiver of Right to Am>eaI the Sentence 

The defendant agrees that this Court has jurisdiction and authority to 

impose any sentence up to the statutory maximum and expressly waives the right to 

appeal defendant's sentence on any ground, including the ground that the Court 

erred in detemiining the applicable guidelines range pursuant to the United S1ates 

Sentencing Guidelines, except (a) the ground that the sentence exceeds the 
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defendant's applicable guidelines range as 4etmnjned by the Court pursuant to the 

United Stat.es Sentencing Guidelines; (b) the ground that the sentence exceeds the 

statutory maxim.um penalty; or (c) the ground that the sentence violates the Eighth 

Amendment to the Constitution; provided, however, that if the government exercises 

its right to appeal the sentence imposed, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b), then 

the defendant is released ftom bis waiver and may appeal the sentence as authorized 

by 18 U.S.C. § 3742(a). 

8. Middle District of Florida ,Amement 

It is further understood that this agreement is limited to the Office of 1he 

United States Attomey for the Middle District of Florida and cannot bind other 

federal, state, or local prosecuting authorities, although this office will bring 

defendant's cooperation, if any, to the attention of other prosecuting officers or 

others, if requested. 

9. Filing of Agreement 

This agreement shall be presented to the Comt, in open court or m 
camera, in whole or in part, upon a showing of good cause, and filed in this cause, at 

the time of defendant's entry of a plea of guilty pursuant hereto. 

10. Voluntariness 

The defendant acknowledges that defendant is entering into this 

agreement and is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily with~ut reliance upon any 

~ions between the attorney for the government and the defendant and 

defendant's attorney and without promise of benefit of any kind ( other than the 
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concessions contamed herein). and without threats. force, intimidation. or coercion 

of any kind. The defendant further acknowledges defendant's understanding of the 

nature of the offense or offenses to which defendant is pleadillg guilty and the 

elements thereof, includmg the pa,alties provided by law, and defendant's complete 

satisfaction with the representation and advice received from defendant's , 

undersigned counsel (if any). The defen~t also understands that defendant has the 

right to plead not guilty or to persist in that plea if it has already been made, and that 

defendant bas the right to be tried by a jury with the assistance of COUD.$el, the right 

to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against defendant, the right against 

compulsory self-incrimination, and the right to compulsory process for the 

attendance of witnesses to testify in defendant's defense; but, by pleading guilty, 

defendant waives or gives up those rights and there will be no trial The defendant 

further understands that if defendant pleads guilty, the Court may ask defendant 

questions about the offense or offenses to which defendant pleaded, and if defendant 

answers those questions under o~ on the record, and in the presence of counsel (if 

any), defendant's answers may later be used against defendant in a prosecution for 

perjury or fa1se statement. The defendant also understands that defendant will be 

adjudicated guilty of the offenses to which d.Pfendaor has pleaded and, if any of such 

offenses are felonies, may thereby be deprived of certain rights, such as the right to 

vote, to hold public office, to serve on a jury, or to have possession of firearms. 

Derendant's Initials~ 14 
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11. Factual Basis 

Defendant is pleading goi1ty because defendant is in fact guilty. The 

defendant ~es that defendant docs hereby admit that the &cts set forth below are 

true, and were this case to go to trial, the United States would be able to prove those 

specific facts and others beyond a reasonable doubt. 

FACTS 

At least from September 2017 through February 2018, the defendant 

conspired to engage in conduct involving the sale and purchase of a ~uc:hin 

monkey, knowing that the capuchin monkey had been possessed and transported in 

violation of state law, all in violation of the Lacey Act The ultimate object of the 

conspiracy was for the defendant to sell a capucbin monkey to a buyer in California, 

who could not lawfully possess a capucbin monkey in California. 

Beginning in September 2017, the defendant arranged via cell phone the 

sale and transportation of the capuchin monkey with an associate of the California 

buyer. At the defendant's request, Jhe California buyer deposited $12,650 in the 

defendant's bank account to pay for the capucbin monkey and associated expenses, 

including delivery. The defendant transferred the capuchin monkey, within Florida. 

to a wildlife transporter that the defendant knew was not permitted to possess a 

capuchin monkey in Florida. That wildlife transporter met with the California 

buyer's associate in Nevada, after which the wildlife transporter and the associate 

traveled into California wi1h the capuchin monkey. Neither the wildlife transporter 

nor the California buyer's associate were permitted to possess a capuchin monkey in 
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Case 8:20-cr-00401-WFJ-AAS   Document 59   Filed 02/28/22   Page 16 of 18 PageID 189

( 

California. After receiving the capuchin monkey, the California buyer unlawfully 

possessed the ca.puchin mODkcy until January 3, 2018, when law enforcement 

officers seized the capucbin monkey from the buyer's California residence. All of 

these acts were part of and in furtherance of the conspiracy. · 

The defendant and his conspirators also attempted to conceal aspectS of 

the unlawful scheme. For example, on Februaiy 15, 2018, the defendant submitted 

false records to a law enforcement officer investigating the unlawful transactiori.. 

These records falsely stated that the ~ucbin monkey had been sold to a different 

individual in Nevada, where it was legal to possess a capuchin monkey, rather than 

to the California buyer. 

In addition, on multiple occasions, the defendant sold cotton-top 

tamarins, which are listed as an endangered species, across state lines and in 

violation of the Endangered Species Act On March IO, 2016, the defendant sold a 

cotton-top tamarin to an individual residing in Wisconsm for $4,500. On April 7, 

2017, the defendant sold a cotton-top tamarin to an individual residing in Alabama 

for $4,500. On October 24, 2017, the defendant sold two cotton-top tamarins to an 

iifvidual residmg in South Carolina for $9,000 (plus approximately $1,200 for 

. trimsporta.uon). Because the defendant conducted tlm business from Florida, and the 

~tton-top_t:amarins crossed state lines in their transport from Florida to their 

destination states, all of these transactions were in interstate commerce 

The defendant sough to conceal his unlawful trade in endangered 

species by telling his purchasers to falsely c:1ajm. that they had received the cotton-top 
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tamarins at a flea market when asked. For example, on August 12, 2020, after the 

South Carolina buyer told the defendant that law enforcement officers had con~ 

her about her plJIChase of cotton-top tamarins, the defendant told the South Carolina 

b~er to tel1 the officers that she had bought the cotton-top taroarins at a flea market 

and that they had later died. In ttuth, however, the South Carolina buyer had 

purchased the cotton-top tamarins from the defendant, and she had later returned 

those cotton-top tamarins to the defendant. 

12. Entire Agreement "\ 

This plea agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

govemment and the defendant with respect to the aforementioned guilty plea and no 

other promises, agreements, or representations exist or have been made to the 

defendant or defendant's attorney with regard to such guilty plea. 

.... - -. 
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13. Certification 

,· 
I 

The defendant and defendant's counsel certify that this plea agreement 

bas been read in its entirety by ( or bas been read ~) the defendant and that defendant 

fully understands its terms. 

DATED this --1.!:L day of fi,t~, 2021. 

ROGER B. HANDBERG 

. n 1 -Attomey 
W{IN/ a -

· D. Murray 
::: t llire<I States Attomey 

,.,,.C ~ 
RachelleDesauxBedke 
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Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief, Economic Crimes Section 


